THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In the Court of Appeals

RECEIVED

APPEAL FROM SPARTANBURG COUNTY  
Court of Common Pleas

Apr 28 2020

SC Court of Appeals

The Honorable Jean H. Toal, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2019-002126

Jerry Howard Crawford, individually and as Personal Representative of the Estate of Evelyn Kay Crawford, Respondent,

v.

## **STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL**

- I. DID THE CIRCUIT COURT ABUSE ITS DISCRETION BY GRANTING A NEW TRIAL UNDER RULE 60(B)(2)?
- II. DID THE CIRCUIT COURT ABUSE ITS DISCRETION BY GRANTING A NEW TRIAL UNDER RULE 60(B)(3)?

## INTRODUCTION

After a four-day trial on Plaintiff Jerry Crawford's claims that Covil Corporation ("Covil") was responsible for causing his mesothelioma, the jury unanimously found in favor of Covil on all claims. Despite this unanimous verdict, the Circuit Court has now twice granted a new trial. It first did so by setting aside the jury's verdict under the Thirteenth-Juror Doctrine, an erroneous ruling that Covil has appealed to this Court in a separate proceeding. *See Crawford v. Covil Corp.*, No. 2018-001965 (S.C. Ct. App.). After briefing was completed in that appeal, and even though the Circuit Court had already granted Crawford full relief from judgment, the Circuit Court again granted a new trial on the separate grounds of newly discovered evidence under South Carolina Rule of Civil Procedure 60(b)(2) and fraud under South Carolina Rule of Civil Procedure 60(b)(3). That decision, which is the subject of this appeal, is also erroneous and should be reversed.

The Circuit Court's most recent new-trial order arises from a Covil data tape dating back to 1991 that Covil's trial counsel first learned of in August 2018, after the July verdict in this case. The parties have not yet been able to access the tape's contents because it employs obsolete technology. The available evidence, however, indicates that the tape contains accounting information from between 1988 and 1991. Thus, although no one yet knows what information the data tape contains, there is no reason to think that it contains any information relevant to Crawford's claim that he was exposed to Covil-supplied asbestos-containing insulation between 1970 and 1974. The data tape is currently in the custody of a forensic computer expert—retained by Covil in consultation with Crawford's counsel pursuant to an order of the Circuit Court—who is attempting to download the tape's data. (Covil Opp'n Ex. F; R. p. \_\_\_\_). But rather than wait for the completion of that process, the Circuit Court granted a new trial based on nothing more than speculation about the data tape's possible contents.

That ruling was a clear abuse of discretion. It is impossible at this point to conclude that the information on the data tape will probably change the outcome of the trial, will be material to Crawford’s claims, and will not be merely cumulative—all of which are mandatory factors that must be satisfied before granting relief under Rule 60(b)(2). Indeed, the Circuit Court did not even purport to find that the contents of the data tape will be outcome-changing or material, which is a sufficient reason, standing alone, to reverse the Rule 60(b)(2) ruling.

The Circuit Court’s alternative ground for granting a new trial—fraud under Rule 60(b)(3)—was equally flawed. The Circuit Court did not find, as is required by Rule 60(b)(3), that Covil or Covil’s counsel acted with the intent to deceive Crawford or the Circuit Court. Nor is there any record evidence that could have enabled Crawford to carry his burden of proving fraudulent intent by clear and convincing evidence.

The order should be reversed in full.

## **STATEMENT OF THE CASE**

### **A. Procedural Background and Trial**

On December 4, 2017, soon after being diagnosed with mesothelioma, Jerry Howard Crawford brought this products-liability lawsuit against thirty separate defendants.<sup>1</sup> Crawford alleged that, between 1970 and 1974, he had worked for Hoechst Celanese (“Celanese”),<sup>2</sup> a polyester fiber plant in Spartanburg, South Carolina, and was exposed to asbestos fibers when a company called Daniel Construction replaced insulation covering hot-water pipes in the plant. (Crawford Dep. 13:10–15; R. p. \_\_\_\_); *see also* (Crawford Dep. 338:16–25; R. p. \_\_\_\_) (similar).

---

<sup>1</sup> Crawford passed away on December 15, 2018. *See* Final Br. of Resp. at 1 n.1, *Crawford v. Covil Corp.*, No. 2018-001965 (S.C. Ct. App. May 21, 2019).

<sup>2</sup> Because the Circuit Court refers to the facility as Hoechst Celanese, Covil does so here as well for ease of reference, though “Celanese” would not have been associated with the plant until 1987 or 1988 at the earliest.

Crawford also alleged that “throughout his life” he had “perform[ed] automotive repair in his brother-in-law’s auto garage,” working in close proximity to “asbestos-containing products including, but not limited to, brake replacements, brake shoe relining and grinding, rebuilding brake systems, clutch facing replacement, engine overhauls, exhaust, gasket replacement, and other general automotive maintenance.” (Crawford Compl. 3 ¶ 3; R. p. \_\_\_\_). And Crawford alleged that he also “worked around other trades” that involved exposure to “asbestos-containing products and equipment.” (*Id.* at 4 ¶ 4). According to his complaint, Crawford’s “cumulative exposure to asbestos” over his life—the “result of the acts and omissions of” all thirty defendants—“was a substantial factor in causing Crawford’s mesothelioma.” (*Id.*)

At the time of trial, however, Covil was the only remaining defendant. (Verdict Form; R. p. \_\_\_\_). Covil is a defunct insulation-supply company that operated from the 1940s until it ceased operations in 1991. (Trial Tr. 339:24–340:4; R. p. \_\_\_\_). It was dissolved in 1993 and has had no active employees or officers since then. (Covil’s Opp’n Ex. H (Def. Covil Corp.’s Suppl. Resps. Pl.’s Req. Produc. p. 6, *Finch v. BASF Catalysts, LLC*, No. 1:16-cv-1077 (M.D.N.C. Mar. 14, 2018)); R. p. \_\_\_\_). Crawford alleged that Covil had supplied, and occasionally installed, asbestos-containing insulation to which he had been exposed while working at the Celanese plant. (Trial Tr. 120:7–9; R. p. \_\_\_\_).

The bulk of Covil’s records from between 1970 and 1974—the period most relevant to Crawford’s claims—is missing because the company suffered a major fire on May 14, 1973. (Trial Tr. 346:12–347:6; R. p. \_\_\_\_). Palmer Covil, the company’s founder, testified in a 1977 deposition that most of Covil’s purchase records and invoices from before 1973 were destroyed by the fire. (Covil Dep. 9:4–6; R. p. \_\_\_\_) (“We had a fire in May of Nineteen Seventy-three and it burned up a lot of our records.”); (Covil Dep. 143:7–17; R. p. \_\_\_\_); (Covil Dep. 152:23–25; R. p. \_\_\_\_). More

records were destroyed in a flood several years later. (Covil's Opp'n Ex. I (Def. Covil Corp.'s Answers to Pl.'s Interrogs. Gen. Objs., *Finch* (Aug. 29, 2017)); R. p. \_\_\_\_).

Despite the fire and flood, Covil was able to retain approximately 25,000 pages of documents, none of which supports Crawford's claims. (Rule 60(b) Mot. Hr'g Tr. 7:9–11; R. p. \_\_\_\_). After Covil ceased operations in 1991, its law firm at the time, Gallivan, White & Boyd P.A. ("Gallivan White"), took possession of the company's remaining records, maintaining them first in boxes and then in file cabinets. (Covil's Opp'n Ex. C (White Aff. ¶ 3); R. p. \_\_\_\_). No documents from Covil's remaining records indicate that Covil supplied products for use at the Celanese facility in Spartanburg before or during the time that Crawford worked there. (Trial Tr. 374:16–24; R. p. \_\_\_\_).

Days before trial, Crawford moved for sanctions against Covil for spoliation of evidence. Crawford alleged that not all of Covil's pre-1973 documents had been destroyed in the fire, but that "at least some of the documents were destroyed pursuant to a document retention policy." (Pl.'s Mot. Sanctions Against Def. Covil Corp. pp. 1–4; R. p. \_\_\_\_). Covil responded that depositions by Covil employees as well as newspaper articles confirm the fire's occurrence, that Covil had delivered the remaining documents (consisting of employment records and approximately 25,000 pages of other records) to Gallivan White, and that the 25,000 pages had been produced to Crawford. (Covil Corp.'s Reply to Pl.'s Mot. Sanctions p. 2; R. p. \_\_\_\_).

The Circuit Court granted the motion for sanctions. It found that "spoliation has taken place by Covil of some of its corporate records that are pertinent to these proceedings." (Trial Tr. 68:4–16; R. p. \_\_\_\_). And it sanctioned Covil by instructing the jury that Crawford "was exposed to asbestos insulation supplied by and installed by Covil Corporation at Celanese between 1970 and 1974." (Trial Tr. 117:8–12; R. p. \_\_\_\_); *see also* (Trial Tr. 75:23–25; R. p. \_\_\_\_).

The jury trial began on July 16, 2018. The focus of the evidence was whether Covil was responsible for the insulation installed at the Celanese plant when Crawford worked there. Crawford introduced deposition testimony from a former Daniel Construction employee that the company insulated pipe at the Celanese facility with Covil-supplied insulation. (Neelands Dep. 134:6–11; R. p. \_\_\_\_). In addition, a former Covil employee said in deposition testimony introduced at trial that if Daniel Construction had a maintenance contract, “Covil was doing the insulation work.” (Waters Dep. 402:3–5; R. p. \_\_\_\_). But a Daniel Construction corporate representative testified that Covil was not a subcontractor or vendor for Daniel Construction’s work at the Celanese facility between 1971 and 1975. (Buck Dep. 108:24–109:16; R. p. \_\_\_\_). Additionally, the corporate representative for CNA Holdings (Celanese’s successor company) testified that he had searched his company’s records regarding construction of the Celanese facility in Spartanburg and had found nothing to suggest that Covil supplied or installed insulation at the facility. (Bowyer Dep. 134:8–138:14; R. p. \_\_\_\_). And Covil’s corporate representative testified that none of Covil’s remaining records reflected that Covil did work at the Celanese facility between 1970 and 1974, or that Covil did any work for Daniel Construction during that time. (Trial Tr. 374:22–375:8; R. p. \_\_\_\_).

After hearing this conflicting evidence, the jury returned a verdict in favor of Covil on all claims on July 19, 2018. (Trial Tr. 629:23–630:11; R. p. \_\_\_\_); (Verdict; R. p. \_\_\_\_). The Circuit Court, however, granted Crawford a new trial under the Thirteenth-Juror Doctrine, concluding that the jury’s verdict was unsupported by the evidence at trial. (Order Denying in Part and Granting in Part Pl.’s Mot. for Judgment Notwithstanding the Verdict & for a New Trial Absolute; R. p. \_\_\_\_). Covil appealed to this Court, and that appeal has been fully briefed. *See Crawford v. Covil Corp.*, No. 2018-001965 (S.C. Ct. App.).

## **B. Covil's Record Production**

Over the years, the law firms that represent Crawford have received and been given access to all the Covil documents that were in Gallivan White's custody. As noted above, during this case, Covil produced approximately 25,000 pages of documents to Crawford. (Covil Corp.'s Reply to Pl.'s Mot. Sanctions p. 2; R. p. \_\_\_\_); (Rule 60(b) Mot. Hr'g Tr. 7:9–11; R. p. \_\_\_\_). But even prior to that, the law firms that represent Crawford have been afforded access to and given the opportunity to review the Covil documents by Gallivan White multiple times over the past two decades.

In 1999 or 2000, two attorneys from the law firm of Wallace & Graham, P.A.—which serves as local counsel to Crawford's attorneys at Dean Omar Branham & Shirley, LLP (“Dean Omar”) in many other asbestos-related cases—visited Gallivan White's office. The attorneys were given access to all of the Covil records in Gallivan White's possession. (Covil's Opp'n Ex. C (White Aff. ¶ 5) ; R. p. \_\_\_\_). During that visit, the Wallace & Graham attorneys scanned and copied any materials that the attorneys deemed relevant and provided Gallivan White with a CD of the materials that were copied. (*Id.* ¶ 6).

Then in the fall of 2017, an attorney from Dean Omar contacted Gallivan White seeking to review the Covil records in connection with another asbestos claim pending against Covil. (*Id.* ¶ 7). Gallivan White retrieved those records from offsite storage to facilitate the review, but the Dean Omar attorney never followed through on the request. (*Id.*).

Similar access was offered in 2018. In connection with another Covil case, a Gallivan White attorney showed a second Dean Omar attorney where the Covil records were being stored and offered the Dean Omar attorney the opportunity to review them during a deposition being held at Gallivan White's offices. (*Id.* ¶ 8). Like her colleague the prior year, the Dean Omar attorney chose not to review the files. *See (id.)*.

### C. The Data Tape and Crawford's Rule 60(b) Motion

After this litigation began, Covil changed counsel. Wall Templeton & Haldrup (“Wall Templeton”) took over Covil’s representation in April 2018. (*Id.* ¶ 9). In August 2018, after the trial in this case, Wall Templeton first learned of a “data tape” present among Covil’s paper records. (Covil Opp’n Ex. J (Wall Aff. ¶ 4); R. p. \_\_\_\_). Covil changed counsel again in March 2019.

On July 11, 2019, during a hearing in another case, a lawyer representing Wall Templeton informed the Circuit Court that the firm was in possession of a data tape obtained from Gallivan White. (Covil’s Opp’n Ex. E (Hr’g Tr. 70:18–71:6, *Falls v. CBS Corp.*, No. 2015-CP-46-02155 (S.C. Ct. C.P., York Cty. July 11, 2019)); R. p. \_\_\_\_). Counsel stated that the tape’s contents were unclear because the tape employed an obsolete technology. (*Id.*). The Circuit Court ordered that a forensic specialist examine the tape to determine whether it contains data and, if so, how to retrieve the data. (Covil’s Opp’n Ex. F (Order on Handling of Data Tape Produced by Mark Wall, *Hopper v. Air & Liquid Sys. Corp.*, No. 2019-CP-40-00076 (S.C. Ct. C.P., Richland Cty., Aug. 22, 2019))).

In accordance with the court’s order, a forensic specialist retained by Covil in consultation with Dean Omar is currently attempting to recover the tape’s contents. The tape’s label indicates that its contents date from 1990 and 1991, with a “final back up” date of October 18, 1991, just before Covil ceased operations. (Covil’s Opp’n Ex. E (Hr’g Tr. 95:1–4, *Falls*, No. 2015-CP-46-02155 (S.C. Ct. C.P., York Cty. July 11, 2019)); R. p. \_\_\_\_). The specialist has identified a software called “NCR” as necessary to extract the data. Consistent with that determination and the tape’s label, Covil’s records show that it purchased accounting software referred to as an NCR system in August 1988, nearly fifteen years after Crawford stopped working at Celanese. (Covil’s Opp’n

Ex. G; R. p. \_\_\_\_). To date, the third-party vendor has been unable to extract information from the data tape in a useable format.

Despite the continuing work of the specialist, and even though the Circuit Court had already granted a new trial under the Thirteenth-Juror Doctrine, Crawford filed a motion for relief from judgment, requesting a new trial under Rule 60(b)(2) and Rule 60(b)(3) based on the data tape. (Pl.'s Rule 60(b) Mot. p. 1; R. p. \_\_\_\_). This Court gave Crawford leave to file such motion. (Order of Sept. 20, 2019). And though the Thirteenth-Juror ruling meant that there was no judgment from which to grant Crawford relief, the Circuit Court granted a new trial under both Rule 60(b)(2) and Rule 60(b)(3).

With respect to Rule 60(b)(2), the Circuit Court concluded that the data tape constitutes newly discovered evidence warranting a new trial. The Circuit Court found that the tape was “in existence at the time of the jury’s verdict,” that Crawford “could not have discovered this evidence with due diligence,” and that—although “what is contained on this tape is unknown”—it is “probable that the evidence contained on the tape is not likely to be merely cumulative or impeaching.” (Order p. 5; R. p. \_\_\_\_). The Circuit Court did not make any findings as to the materiality of the unknown information on the data tape or whether that unknown information would probably change the result in a new trial.

As to Rule 60(b)(3), the Circuit Court concluded that “Covil’s concealment of the data tape, which may very well contain the documents that Covil claimed were destroyed, constitutes fraud against Plaintiff and fraud on this Court.” (*Id.* at 7). The Circuit Court did not find, however, that Covil intended to deceive either Crawford or the court about the existence of the data tape.

Covil filed and served its notice of appeal on December 23, 2019. Several weeks later, Crawford filed a motion to dismiss, which Covil opposed as squarely foreclosed by precedent of

the Supreme Court of South Carolina. This Court denied Crawford's motion in an order issued on February 28, 2020, noting that the parties could address the issue of jurisdiction in their briefs.

### STATEMENT OF JURISDICTION

South Carolina Appellate Court Rule 201 provides that appeals may be taken from any "appealable order," Rule 201(a), SCARC, and the Supreme Court of South Carolina has held that any order granting a new trial qualifies. As the Supreme Court has explained, interlocutory orders that "discontinue an action, prevent an appeal, or grant or refuse a new trial, or strike out an action or defense" affect a substantial right and are thus immediately appealable orders under Section 14-3-330 of the South Carolina Code of Laws. *Ex parte Wilson*, 367 S.C. 7, 13, 625 S.E.2d 205, 208 (2005); *Mid-State Distribs., Inc. v. Century Imps., Inc.*, 310 S.C. 330, 335 n.4, 426 S.E.2d 777, 780 n.4 (1993). There is no question that the Circuit Court's order grants a new trial, and for that reason, it is immediately appealable. *See Bailey v. Peacock*, 318 S.C. 13, 15 n.2, 455 S.E.2d 690, 692 n.2 (1995) (rejecting as "meritless" the argument that "the granting of a new trial is not immediately appealable").

The Supreme Court has squarely rejected the assertion in Crawford's motion to dismiss that an exception exists for orders granting a new trial based on facts or new evidence. Crawford's argument is based on language from a 1967 decision that the Supreme Court has since clarified. Nine years later, in *South Carolina State Highway Department v. Clarkson*, the Supreme Court explained unequivocally that "the statement in [prior] decisions, that an order granting a new trial based upon the facts is not appealable, *is not correct in the sense that an appeal will not lie.*" 267 S.C. 121, 126, 226 S.E.2d 696, 697 (1976). Rather, this statement merely reflects the standard of review on appeal of such an order, requiring that the order be affirmed unless "there was an abuse of discretion amounting to an error of law." *Id.* Such an abuse of discretion "has been found in our prior decisions where the order granting a new trial is without evidentiary support or founded

upon a fundamental legal error.” *S.C. Dep’t of Highways & Pub. Transp. v. Mooneyham*, 275 S.C. 205, 206, 269 S.E.2d 329, 330 (1980) (citations omitted).

### **SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT**

**I.** The Circuit Court abused its discretion by committing a fundamental legal error in granting a new trial under Rule 60(b)(2). To obtain a new trial based on newly discovered evidence under Rule 60(b)(2), a movant must establish that the evidence: (1) will probably change the result if a new trial is granted; (2) has been discovered since the trial; (3) could not have been discovered before the trial; (4) is material; and (5) is not merely cumulative or impeaching. All five factors must be met. But in granting relief to Crawford, the Circuit Court did not find that the information on the data tape will probably change the result in a new trial or that the information is material to any issue. That is reversible error.

The Circuit Court’s decision to grant a new trial under Rule 60(b)(2) is reversible for the additional reason that it lacks support in the record evidence. As of now, no one knows what information the data tape contains because the forensic computer expert has been unable to obtain useable data from the tape. The Circuit Court’s assertions about the data tape’s contents were nothing but speculation. And this sort of guesswork cannot satisfy Rule 60(b)(2)’s requirements that the newly discovered evidence will probably change the result in a new trial, will be material, and will not be merely cumulative. The record evidence also does not support the Circuit Court’s conclusion that the data tape could not have been discovered before trial. On multiple occasions over the past two decades, Covil’s counsel gave attorneys from two law firms (one now representing Crawford and a second frequently associated with the first) access to the file cabinets in which the tape was stored.

**II.** The Circuit Court also abused its discretion in granting a new trial under Rule 60(b)(3). To obtain a new trial based on fraud under Rule 60(b)(3), the movant must demonstrate

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