THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

RECEIVED

Sep 29 2020

SC Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM SPARTANBURG COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

Jean Hoefler Toal, Chief Justice of the Supreme Court of South Carolina (Retired)
Acting as Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2019-002126
Case No. 2017-CP-42-04429

Jerry Howard Crawford, Individually and as Personal Representative of the Estate of
Evelyn Kay Crawford, Respondent,

v.

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

ARGUMENT

I. The trial court properly granted a new trial pursuant to Rule 60(b)(2) based on newly discovered evidence.

The trial court granted a new trial pursuant to Rule 60(b)(2), which provides that the court may relieve a party “. . . from a final judgment, order, or proceeding for the following reasons . . . (2) newly discovered evidence which by due diligence could not have been discovered in time to move for a new trial under Rule 59(b)[.]” Rule 60(b)(2), SCRPC. This Court has adopted the following test for this rule:

To obtain a new trial based on newly discovered evidence, a movant must establish that the newly discovered evidence:

- (1) will probably change the result if a new trial is granted;
- (2) has been discovered since the trial;
- (3) could not have been discovered before the trial;
- (4) is material to the issue; and
- (5) is not merely cumulative or impeaching.

Lanier v. Lanier, 364 S.C. 211, 217, 612 S.E.2d 456, 459 (Ct. App. 2005) (citing James F. Flanagan, South Carolina Civil Procedure 484 (2nd ed. 1996)).

Covil implies that this Court should disregard the trial court’s ruling from the bench on Mr. Crawford’s Rule 60(b) motion. Such would be the case only when the written order and the trial court’s oral ruling conflict. *See First Union National Bank of South Carolina v. Hitman, Inc.*, 306 S.C. 327, 411 S.E.2d 681 (Ct. App. 1991), *aff’d*, 308 S.C. 421, 418 S.E.2d 545 (1992) (no order is final until it is written and entered and the trial judge retains discretion to change his mind and amend his oral ruling accordingly); *First Union National Bank of South Carolina v. Hitman, Inc.*, 308 S.C. 421, 418 S.E.2d 545 (1992) (a judge is not bound by a prior oral ruling and may issue a written order which conflicts with the prior oral ruling). Covil has failed to demonstrate that the trial court’s ruling from the bench differs in any material respect from the court’s written order. Additionally, Covil failed to object on the record to the trial court’s written decision. It also

failed to request that the trial judge reconsider her ruling or alter or amend the judgment. The South Carolina Supreme Court has held that

The losing party must first try to convince the lower court it is [sic] has ruled wrongly and then, if that effort fails, convince the appellate court that the lower court erred. This principle underlies the long-established preservation requirement that the losing party generally *must* both present his issues and arguments to the lower court and obtain a ruling *before* an appellate court will review those issues and arguments.

ION L.L.C. v. Town of Mt Pleasant, 338 S.C. 406, 422, 526 S.E.2d 716, 724 (2000) (emphasis added). As such, the written order granting Mr. Crawford’s Rule 60(b) motion should be read in conjunction with the trial court’s oral rulings.

The record reveals, contrary to Covil’s position, that Judge Toal addressed all of the necessary elements in her written order granting Respondent a new trial on November 25, 2019, and from the bench during the hearing on Respondent’s Motion on November 12, 2019. The evidence supports the trial court’s rulings.

A. The trial court properly concluded that the new evidence will likely change the result in a new trial.

In determining whether to grant a motion for a new trial, the judge is given great discretion. *See State v. Smith*, 316 S.C. 53, 55, 447 S.E.2d 175, 176 (1994) (citing *State v. Simmons*, 279 S.C. 165, 303 S.E.2d 857 (1983)) (“It is well settled that the grant or refusal of a new trial is within the discretion of the trial judge and will not be disturbed on appeal absent a clear abuse of that discretion.”). There are many possible reasons for this broad discretion, not the least of which is the fact that trial judges have the best vantage point to assess witness credibility and the weight to be assigned to the evidence presented. *See Williams v. Moore*, 400 S.C. 90, 102, 733 S.E.2d 224, 230 (Ct. App. 2012) (quoting *Madren v. Bradford*, 378 S.C. 187, 191-92, 661 S.E.2d 390, 393 (Ct. App. 2008)) (stating in a property case that “[q]uestions regarding credibility and weight of evidence are exclusively for the trial judge”).

Contrary to Covil's assertions, the trial court considered whether the evidence on the data tape would likely change the result if that evidence was presented in a new trial. To be clear, as a result of Covil's failure to have the data tape transcribed earlier, neither Mr. Crawford nor Covil can definitively identify what documents are stored on the data tape. Covil's best guess was that the data tape contained sales invoices. This admission supports the trial court's finding that the evidence on the data tape would change the result in a new trial. Covil's position as this matter moved toward trial was that **all** of its sales invoices were destroyed in a fire. Discovery of the data tape throws a rather large wrench in Covil's narrative. It means that, apparently, some of Covil's documents survived the fire and the story that encouraged the jury in this matter to return a verdict in Covil's favor is untrue.⁴ Likewise, the discovery of the data tape reveals that Covil failed to produce information responsive to Mr. Crawford's discovery requests. Covil, through its repeated representations to Mr. Crawford and the trial court, deceived Mr. Crawford and the trial court into thinking that Covil had no documents in its possession to demonstrate that sold products to Mr. Crawford's work sites. This was likely untrue.

There is no question that acceptance of the data tape and the information thereon would change the result of the trial in this matter or that the information on the data tape, in whole or in part, would be material to the issues in this case. The trial court noted that one of the reasons that Covil was successful at trial was because of the lack of information about Covil's supply of materials. Covil testified at trial that all of its documents regarding the supply of materials had been destroyed in a fire. The documents that Mr. Crawford used to support his case against Covil at trial were gathered from other companies because Covil repeatedly represented that it had no

⁴ Respondent has detailed the inconsistencies in Covil's "fire" story in the brief filed with this Court regarding the trial court's grant of a new trial pursuant to the Thirteenth Juror Doctrine. [See *Crawford v. Covil Corporation*, Case No. 2017-CP-42-04429; Appellate Case No. 2018-001965.]

documents demonstrating that it even sold materials or performed work at Jerry Crawford's work sites. It is difficult to discern how information directly related to Covil's provision of materials to Mr. Crawford's work sites could not have affected the outcome of the first trial. With direct evidence that Covil worked at Mr. Crawford's work sites or sold asbestos-containing materials to his work sites, it is highly likely that the result of the first trial would have been different. The trial court's finding on this issue should be affirmed.

B. The trial court properly found that the data tape was new evidence that could not have been discovered before trial.

On its face, Rule 60(b)(2) requires that evidence relied upon to grant relief must be "newly discovered evidence which by due diligence could not have been discovered in time to move for a new trial under Rule 59(b)." Rule 60(b)(2), SCRCP (emphasis added). Courts and commentators have concluded that "the only evidence that qualifies as 'newly-discovered' evidence within the meaning of the rule justifying setting the judgment aside is evidence of facts that were in existence at the time of the original trial or that relate directly to the facts that were tried." 12 James Wm. Moore, et al., *Moore's Federal Practice* § 60.42[3] (3d ed. 1999). However, the District of Columbia Circuit has noted that the focus of the court's inquiry is not necessarily when the evidence was created, but rather whether the newly discovered evidence "pertain[s] to facts in existence at the time of the trial, and not to facts that have occurred subsequently." *Nat'l Anti-Hunger Coalition v. Executive Comm. of the President's Private Sector Survey on Cost Control*, 229 U.S. App. D.C. 143, 147, 711 F.2d 1071, 1075 (1983) (footnote 3). Further, South Carolina Appellate Courts have held that due diligence is the "diligence reasonably expected from, and ordinarily exercised by, a person who seeks to satisfy a legal requirement or to discharge an obligation." *Lanier*, 364 S.C. at 220, 612 S.E.2d at 460. "Diligence looks not to what the litigant actually discovered, but what he or she *could* have discovered." *Id.* Accordingly, when parties

could have discovered the new evidence prior to trial, they are not entitled to relief under Rule 60(b)(2). *See Raby Constr., L.L.P. v. Orr*, 358 S.C. 10, 21, 594 S.E.2d 478, 484 (S.C. 2004) (citing *Bowman v. Bowman*, 357 S.C. 146, 152, 591 S.E.2d 654, 657 (Ct. App. 2004)).

Covil's position on this issue is interesting because essentially Covil wants this Court to punish Mr. Crawford for **believing Covil** when it said, repeatedly, that all of its documents were destroyed in a fire. Missing from Covil's argument that Mr. Crawford could have discovered this data tape prior to trial is the identification of markings or labels on the face of the data tape that would have even suggested to Mr. Crawford or his counsel that the information contained on the data tape was responsive to discovery requests or was relevant to Mr. Crawford's case against Covil. Additionally, as the trial court noted, the affidavits offered by Covil in support of its position that Mr. Crawford could have discovered the data tape in time to move for a new trial under South Carolina Rule of Procedure 59 offer no support. The affidavits do not suggest that the data tape was clearly marked in such a fashion to suggest to Mr. Crawford's counsel that the information contained thereon was responsive to discovery requests or was relevant to the issues to be presented to the jury at trial. In fact, the affidavits suggest that Covil's counsel either did not know the tape existed or made no effort to determine if it contained discoverable information in the asbestos litigations against the company. So then, how was Mr. Crawford to know that in the recesses of the documents in Covil's counsel's possession, there was a data tape containing information relevant to the issues before the jury in this matter? Even in the face of Covil's repeated representations that it had no such documents because they had all been destroyed in a fire? Telepathy perhaps. But the law does not require Mr. Crawford or his counsel to take extraordinary measures to ensure the validity of opposing counsel's representations. The diligence that satisfies this prong of the test is that "reasonably expected from, and ordinarily exercised by,

a person who seeks to satisfy a legal requirement or to discharge an obligation.” *Black’s Law Dictionary*, at 468 (7th ed. 1999). Mr. Crawford, though his counsel, exercised the requisite diligence and the trial court’s ruling on this issue recognized this. Mr. Crawford could scarcely be expected to have made a search for materials, the very existence of which was unknown to him or his counsel.

Covil’s references to federal cases in support of its position are of no moment here. The trial court’s finding that the data tape and the information thereon—especially given Covil’s own admission that it suspects that the data tape holds account payable information and sales invoices—would likely have changed the outcome of the trial was supported by the record. That requirement remains unchanged under federal precedent and the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure—and Covil cannot deny that Mr. Crawford was unaware of the data tape’s existence prior to trial, during trial, or prior to Mr. Crawford’s first motion for a new trial. Covil’s position is that Mr. Crawford and the trial court have acted prematurely in determining that the data tape is newly discovered evidence because no one can, with certainty, identify all of the documents on the withheld data tape. Therefore, according to Covil, any finding that the data tape is newly discovered evidence is based on mere speculation. The record in this matter belies this argument and is more than sufficient to demonstrate that the trial court’s finding was based on “more than a mere showing of potential significance.” *Bohus v. Beloff*, 950 F.2d 919, 930 (3d Cir. 1991). Contrary to Covil’s implications, the *Bohus* Court reversed the district court’s grant of a new trial because the newly discovered evidence would not have changed the outcome of the trial. *Bohus*, 950 F.2d at 931.

Similarly, in *New Hampshire Ins. Co. v. Martech USA, Inc.*, 993 F.2d 1195, 1201 (5th Cir. 1993), a nonbinding case from the Fifth Circuit Court of Appeal, the Court held that the district court did not abuse its discretion in denying the request for Rule 60(b) relief. *Martech*, however,

is factually distinguishable from the instant matter. In *Martech*, the newly discovered evidence was solely an allegation that uncooperative, potential witnesses were in possession of evidence relevant to an issue in the case. As support for that position, Martech provided only its own affirmations regarding what the witnesses might produce. *Id.* at 1201. Unlike *Martech*, Mr. Crawford's request for a new trial is based on more than just speculation. By Covil's own admission, the data tape likely contains sales information—the very type of information requested by Mr. Crawford prior to trial and the very type of direct evidence missing from the presentation of Mr. Crawford's case against Covil at trial.

C. The trial court properly found that the data tape and the information thereon would not be merely cumulative or merely impeaching.

Covil also contends that the trial court erred in granting Mr. Crawford's motion because the evidence on the data tape would be merely cumulative or impeaching. A thorough review of the record, however, reveals that this argument is without merit. While the general rule is that newly discovered evidence which merely impeaches or contradicts the testimony at trial is not a sufficient ground for a new trial, there may be exceptional cases warranting a new trial on merely cumulative or impeaching evidence. *State v. Strickland*, 201 S.C. 170, 170, 22 S.E.2d 417, 418 (1942). When the newly discovered evidence is “so directly applicable to the main point involved that it would be a denial of justice to refuse the motion,” the general rule against merely cumulative or impeaching evidence does not apply. *Id.*

Critically, Covil's defense to Mr. Crawford's claims was that there was no evidence that Covil supplied materials or performed work at Jerry Crawford's work sites. Throughout discovery, Covil failed to produce any records—no sales invoices, no receipts, no contracts—reflecting its work at Mr. Crawford's work sites. According to Covil, all of its relevant documents were destroyed in a fire. This was the story presented to Mr. Crawford, his counsel, the trial court, and

the jury. As such, Mr. Crawford was forced to rely on circumstantial evidence that Covil supplied the insulation he was exposed to at Celanese Spartanburg. He had no direct evidence from Covil.

Covil did not argue that its materials could not have caused Mr. Crawford's mesothelioma. And it admitted that the type of insulation that Mr. Crawford described being exposed to would have contained asbestos and that it did indeed sell that type of insulation. Its defense at trial was entirely that it did not sell materials to Mr. Crawford's work sites during the time of his exposure and that there was a lack of documentary evidence of that fact. Evidence on the data tape to disprove these assertions was thus key to Mr. Crawford's case.

To be clear, Mr. Crawford does not seek to have the information on the data tape admitted as impeachment of Covil's story that all of the documents relevant to this litigation were destroyed in a fire. The very existence of the data tape disproves that narrative. Moreover, Covil failed to present any evidence during the first trial, offering only the loss of its corporate charter as a defense to Mr. Crawford's claims. As noted, Mr. Crawford had no documentary evidence from Covil regarding its supply of asbestos-containing materials to Mr. Crawford's work site. He had to rely on circumstantial evidence presented via testimony from a co-worker, from Daniel's corporate representative, and from Covil's corporate representative. The evidence on the data tape fills the void in Mr. Crawford's case—direct evidence from Covil that it supplied asbestos-containing materials to Jerry Crawford's work site.

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